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This book is dedicated to the memory of the 255 military personnel and three civilians who died for their country on the Falklands, and in particular to my namesake, Welsh Guardsman Ian Dale.
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FOREWORD BY IAIN DALE





On 2 April 1982, I was on holiday, visiting friends, the Weber family, in the German spa town of Bad Wildungen. I was 19, and was on an Easter break from my degree course in German at the University of East Anglia in Norwich. After dinner, we sat down to watch TV. I watched incredulously as the newsreader told us of the Argentine invasion of the Falkland Islands. Unlike most people in Britain, I had a vague idea of where the Falklands were, due to my childhood stamp collection. My German friends assumed that they lay off the coast of Scotland. Herr Weber, a veteran of the Russian front in the Second World War, said: ‘It’ll all be settled by diplomacy.’ I remember vividly replying: ‘I doubt it very much. Margaret Thatcher is not known as the Iron Lady for nothing. I think there’ll be a war.’


‘No, no,’ replied Herr Weber. ‘There will be a compromise. They’ll bring in the United Nations. People don’t fight wars over small colonies anymore.’


‘Trust me,’ I said. ‘You don’t know Margaret Thatcher.’


A few weeks later, back at university, I was asleep in my room one morning when there was a knock at the door. ‘Oh, you’re still alive then,’ an anonymous voice said. Still half asleep, I didn’t really think anything of it and dozed off again. A few minutes later, the same thing happened. ‘Glad to see you’re still with us,’ said my next-door neighbour. Strange, I thought.


Later on, in the kitchen, someone asked if I had seen the papers yet. I said I hadn’t. ‘You ought to,’ came the reply.


I remember it as if it were yesterday: turning to page two of the Daily Mail and seeing my name. Killed in action in the Falklands.


But it wasn’t me. It was Welsh Guardsman Ian Dale, aged 19, from Pontypridd.


It was like being hit in the solar plexus. Tears streamed down my face, as they were to do many times over the next few weeks.


Nothing else could have brought home to me the terrible waste of war like this did.


I was the same age. It could have been me.


Not long afterwards, I attended a debate at the university between the president of the Students Union and leading light in the University Labour Club, Mark Seddon, and someone whose name I now forget but who was on the extreme left. I was horrified that such a debate could take place between the soft left and hard left with no other viewpoint being put forward. So up I stood and defended the sending of the Task Force and our right to retake British sovereign territory. That was my first real experience of the cut and thrust of political debate. And I enjoyed it. It was the catalyst for my getting involved in politics – an interest that endures to this day.


For me, the Falklands War was a formative experience. My father was a teenager during the Second World War and even now he is most happy when he is reading about it or watching TV documentaries on it. I remain fascinated by the political, military and personal consequences of the Falklands War. I remember watching the TV pictures of HMS Sheffield in flames, of the helicopter rescues from burning ships, with tears welling in my eyes. I remember the sleepinducing tones of the Ministry of Defence spokesman Ian McDonald at his daily press conferences. I remember the fury that overcame me as I watched the BBC’s Panorama programme which sought to pour scorn on the war. I remember John Nott announcing the retaking of South Georgia late at night in Downing Street and Margaret Thatcher urging the journalists present not to ask more questions but to ‘rejoice’ at the news.


But most of all, I remember the sense of relief, national pride and joy that most of the country felt as they watched the Union Jack being hoisted again over Government House in Port Stanley. It was a day that helped Britain regain its national pride, which many felt had been lost twenty-six years earlier in the depths of the Suez Canal. In my opinion, 14 June 1982 will be seen by future histories as a turning point in British history. It was a day which showed that Britain was no longer a soft touch and had the ability to stand up to aggressors. Most important of all, it demonstrated a resolve to the communist world, and the Soviet Union in particular, which they thought we had lost years before.


This book has no political viewpoint and does not seek to address the rights and wrongs of political or military strategy. It is a collection of personal memories, anecdotes and reminiscences. It’s as simple as that.


In the following pages, there are memories from the ‘Great and the Good’; as well as recollections from people involved in the war whose names are not well known. They include soldiers and sailors who fought in the war, and Falkland Islanders themselves. There are reminiscences from politicians and journalists, too. The fascinating tales recounted here help us to understand the war a little better. Sometimes amusing and sometimes moving, these memories are all informative and thought-provoking.


Royalties from this book are being donated to the British Forces Foundation. We are delighted to be associated with such a worthwhile charity. The BFF is Jim Davidson’s brainchild and its aim is to encourage top-class performers from show business to travel the world to entertain servicemen and women in all three services on operations. Davidson says: ‘When young soldiers, sailors and airmen are a long way from home, doing their bit for their country, they like to know that people care back here. The appearance of a well-knownentertainer helps give them that reassurance – as well as cheering them up, I hope!’


If you would like to support the activities of the British Forces Foundation, please contact it at the following address:


 


British Forces Foundation


10a The High Street


Pewsey


Wiltshire


SN9 5AQ


Telephone 01672 564911


Email info@bff.org.uk


 


You can find out more about the BFF on its website at www.bff.org.uk One day I shall visit the Falklands.


 


Iain Dale


London, February 2012



















MARGARET THATCHER


Prime Minister, 1979–90





Nothing remains more vividly in my mind, looking back on my years in No. 10, than the eleven weeks in the spring of 1982 when Britain fought and won the Falklands War.


It scarcely seems possible that all of this was thirty years ago.


Much was at stake: what we were fighting for 8,000 miles away in the South Atlantic was not only the territory and the people of the Falklands, important though they were. We were defending our honour as a nation, and principles of fundamental importance to the whole world – above all, that aggressors should never succeed and that international law should prevail over the use of force.


The war was very sudden. No one predicted the Argentine invasion more than a few hours in advance, though many predicted it in retrospect. When I became Prime Minister, I never thought that I would have to order British troops into combat, and I do not think that I have ever lived so tensely or intensely as during the whole of that time.


The significance of the Falklands War was enormous, both for Britain’s self-confidence and for our standing in the world. Since the Suez fiasco in 1956, British foreign policy had been one long retreat. The tacit assumption made by British and foreign governments alike was that our world role was doomed steadily to diminish. We had come to be seen by both friends and enemies as a nation that lacked the will and capability to defend its interests in peace, let alone in war. Victory in the Falklands changed that. Everywhere I went after the war, Britain’s name meant something more than it had. The war also had real importance in relations between East and West: years later, I was told by a Russian general that the Soviets had been firmly convinced that we would not fight for the Falklands, and that if we did fight we would lose. We proved them wrong on both counts, and they did not forget it.


I shall not forget the evening of Wednesday 31 March 1982. I was working in my room at the House of Commons when I was told that John Nott wanted an immediate meeting to discuss the Falklands. I called people together. John was alarmed. He had just received intelligence that the Argentine Fleet, already at sea, looked as if they were going to invade the Islands on Friday 2 April. There was no ground to question the intelligence. John gave the MoD’s view that the Falklands could not be retaken once they had been seized. This was terrible, and totally unacceptable. I could not believe it: these were our people, our islands. I said instantly: ‘If they are invaded, we have got to get them back.’


At this dark moment, comedy intervened. The Chief of the Naval Staff, Henry Leach, was in civilian dress, and on his way to the meeting he had been detained by the police in the Central Lobby of the House of Commons. He had to be rescued by a whip. When he finally arrived, I asked him what we could do. He was quiet, calm and confident: ‘I can put together a Task Force of destroyers, frigates, landing craft, support vessels. It will be led by the aircraft carriers HMS Hermes and HMS Invincible. It can be ready to leave in forty-eight hours.’ He believed such a force could retake the Islands. All he needed was my authority to begin to assemble it. I gave him it, and he left immediately to set the work in motion. We reserved for Cabinet the decision as to whether and when the Task Force should sail.


Before this, I had been outraged and determined. Now my outrage and determination were matched by a sense of relief and confidence. Henry Leach had shown me that, if it came to a fight, the courage and professionalism of Britain’s Armed Forces would win through. It was my job as Prime Minister to see that they got the political support they needed.


Saturday 24 April was to be one of the most crucial days in the Falklands story and a critical one for me personally. Early that morning, Francis Pym came to my study in No. 10 to tell me the results of his negotiating efforts in Washington. I can only describe the document that he brought back as conditional surrender. I told Francis that the terms were totally unacceptable. They would rob the Falklanders of their freedom and Britain of her honour and respect. Francis disagreed. He thought that we should accept what was in the document. We were at loggerheads.


It was John Nott who found the procedural way forward. He proposed that we should make no comment on the first draft but ask Mr Haig to put it to the Argentines first. If they accepted it, we should undoubtedly be in difficulties; but we could then put the matter to Parliament in the light of their acceptance. If the Argentines rejected it – and we thought that they would, because it is almost impossible for any military junta to withdraw – we could then urge the Americans to come down firmly on our side. And so a great crisis passed. I could not have stayed as Prime Minister had the War Cabinet accepted Francis Pym’s proposals. I would have resigned.


More than ever, the outcome now lay in the hands of our soldiers, not with the politicians. Like everyone else in Britain, I was glued to the radio for news – strictly keeping my self-imposed rule not to telephone while the conflict was under way.


On Sunday 13 June, I travelled back from Chequers to No. 10 via Northwood, to learn what I could. What turned out to be the final assault was bitterly fought, particularly at Mount Tumbledown, where the Argentines were well prepared. But Tumbledown, Mount William and Wireless Ridge fell to our forces, who were soon on the outskirts of Stanley.


When the War Cabinet met the following day, all we knew was that the battle was still in progress. The speed with which the end came took all of us by surprise. The Argentines were weary, demoralised and very badly led – as ample evidence showed both at the time and later. They had had enough. They threw down their arms and could be seen retreating through their own minefields into Stanley.


That evening, having learnt the news, I went to the House of Commons to announce the victory. I could not get into my own room; it was locked and the Chief Whip’s assistant had to search for the key. I then wrote out on a scrap of paper I found somewhere on my desk the short statement, which I would have to make on a point of order to the House. At 10 p.m., I rose and told them that it had been reported that there were white flags flying over Port Stanley. The war was over. We all felt the same and the cheers showed it. Right had prevailed. And when I went to sleep very late that night, I realised how great the burden was that had been lifted from my shoulders. For the nation as a whole, though the daily memories, fears and even the relief would fade, pride in our country’s achievement would not.1



















SIR REX HUNT


Governor of the Falkland Islands, 1980–85





‘How small!’ That was my first impression of Stanley, capital of the Falkland Islands and my home for almost six years. I was standing on the flight deck of an Argentine Fokker Friendship. The year was 1980 and the Argentine Air Force ran the only airline operating into and out of the Falkland Islands at the time. I was on my way to take up an appointment with the imposing title: Governor and Commander-in-Chief of the Falkland Islands and their Dependencies, Vice-Admiral of the same and High Commissioner of the British Antarctic Territory. Quite a mouthful. The sky was overcast and visibility poor, so we were making a low approach from the sea. Suddenly, as we skirted round a black squall, the sun broke through and there was Stanley directly in front of us, lit up as if by floodlights. In contrast with the sombre surrounding countryside, the gaily painted roofs gave a cheerful glow to the little town. In the distance, I saw for the first time the distinctive peaks that were to become so well known in 1982: Tumbledown, Two Sisters, Mount Kent, Mount Longdon and Wireless Ridge.


The pilot showed his skill by touching down gently despite an extremely strong crosswind. Stepping out of the aircraft, I had my first taste of the Falklands wind, and was glad not to be wearing my official uniform. The plumed hat would have disappeared upwards like Dorothy. The piercing wind went right through me and I was relieved to be ushered into the red London taxi that passed as the Governor’s official car. Its driver, Don Bonner, was from a family of four generations in the Falkland Islands. Like many other Islanders, he had gone to sea on whalers in South Georgia, minesweepers in the Royal Navy and various smaller vessels of dubious seaworthiness before settling down on one of the sheep farms in the Falklands and siring a family of seven. Now he was not only the Governor’s chauffeur, but also valet, steward, major-domo and general factotum at Government House. He was to become my fishing mentor, snooker opponent and lasting friend.


Driving the four miles into Stanley from the airport, Don kept up an enthralling commentary until we reached Government House, where the rest of the staff were waiting to greet my wife and me. We both fell in love with our new home, which had great character and charm and yet remained homely and comfortable to live in. On that first day, however, I had little time to appreciate my surroundings because I had to change quickly into uniform and go to the Town Hall for the formal swearing-in ceremony. For the first of many times, Don took us on the two-minute drive from Government House to the Town Hall, where I inspected the guard of honour of Royal Marines and the Falkland Islands Defence Force before going inside. In a welcoming speech, the Chief Secretary said that I could expect a ‘tranquil but absorbing way of life’ in the Islands. That was the first of many memorable occasions in the Town Hall over the next six years.


The Town Hall was the hub of Stanley. The Legislative Council met there, criminal and civil courts were held there; dances, May Queen Balls, darts matches, horticultural shows, wedding parties, amateur dramatics and public meetings all took place there. In my memory, two occasions stand out above all others.


The first was on 2 April 1982. To explain the circumstances, I have to go back a day to 3.30 p.m. local (Stanley) time, when I received the following telegram from the Foreign and Commonwealth Office:


We have apparently reliable evidence that an Argentine Task Force will gather off Cape Pembroke [the entrance to Stanley’s outer harbour] early tomorrow morning, 2 April. You will wish to make your dispositions accordingly.


With sixty-nine Royal Marines, ten Royal Navy hydrographers and the local Falkland Islands Defence Force, we made our dispositions accordingly. Government House was the obvious target. It was the seat of government and I decided that it was where I had to stay. Like many another that night, I found myself reflecting on my life. It had been hugely enjoyable and I was relieved to find that I could face the prospect of death with equanimity. I was desperately concerned, however, about the Royal Marines and FIDF members. Many of them were not much older than my own son, on the threshold of life and with everything ahead of them. The thought that a decision of mine could cut off their young lives was to be my main anxiety until the final outcome.


The Argentines launched their assault on Government House just after 6 a.m. and a fierce firefight ensued. The firing petered out as dawn broke about half an hour later. We had repulsed their first attack. By that time we had heard that armoured personnel carriers were trundling into Stanley. To avoid unnecessary casualties, I decided to call for a ceasefire.


The Admiral in charge of the Task Force came to me at Government House. He explained that the Military Governor, a General Garcia, would be arriving to take over command at 10.30 a.m. I expected him to come to Government House but, to my surprise, he went to the Town Hall and sent his emissary to escort me there. I told the emissary to tell his General that I would see him here, at Government House. This went on with rising acrimony until after midday, when I finally agreed to go under threat of being frogmarched if I refused. I was thus considerably angry as I entered the Town Hall. My anger knew no bounds when I surveyed the sight in front of me. The room was full of Argentine soldiers, pressmen and cameras. There was even a battery of studio lighting that they must have flown in for the occasion. A sallow little man with General’s epaulettes came towards me, with his arm outstretched and a fixed, sickly smile on his face. Cameras whirred. I could imagine the rejoicing Argentine public back home. I put my hands pointedly behind my back. The cameras stopped. The smile disappeared. I looked directly at the General and said: ‘You have landed unlawfully on British territory and I order you to remove yourself and your troops forthwith.’ Whereupon Garcia retorted angrily, raising his voice: ‘We have taken back what is rightfully ours and we shall stay FOR EVER.’ Thanks to Margaret Thatcher, ‘FOR EVER’ became seventy-four days.


The second outstanding occasion at the Town Hall could not have been more different. It was on 10 January 1983, now celebrated annually in the Falkland Islands as ‘Margaret Thatcher Day’. That was the day when the Freedom of the Falkland Islands was bestowed upon her, in recognition and appreciation of her saving the Islands from Argentine rule. It is a unique honour. There are a few recipients of the Freedom of Stanley, but Margaret Thatcher is the only person who has been given the Freedom of the Falkland Islands.


Monday 10 January 1983 was a busy day, spent jumping in and out of helicopters (a tiring business) and visiting six settlements, where Margaret Thatcher gave speeches to the troops and to the Islanders, many of whom had come in from outlying farms. She also spoke to many of them individually. She had brought some beautiful wreaths from England, which she laid at Blue Beach cemetery and on the individual graves of Lieutenant Nick Taylor RN at Goose Green and Captain Hamilton of the Green Howards at Port Howard. Having been told that the approach to the cemetery at Port Howard was very muddy, I went across to the Prime Minister in the helicopter with a pair of wellingtons and suggested she might wish to put them on. ‘Certainly not,’ she replied indignantly. ‘I am not wearing wellingtons to Captain Hamilton’s grave.’ And she splashed through the mud in her smartest shoes.


We arrived back at Government House with just half an hour to change and get to the public reception at the Town Hall. On the short drive between the two, the Prime Minister expressed the hope that we should not be there for too long. I had to tell her that the councillors had a surprise in store. They had decided to confer upon her the Freedom of the Falkland Islands. Harold Rowlands, the Financial Secretary and most senior Islander in the Falkland Islands government, had been chosen to present the scroll. I would introduce him and we would both speak for no more than two minutes. She would be expected to say a few words in reply, but that was all.


The Town Hall was packed, the atmosphere electric, and as soon as the Prime Minister entered she was engulfed in a sea of grateful well-wishers. It took the best part of an hour to guide her through the crowd to the stage at the other end of the hall. I introduced Harold and stuck to my allotted two minutes. Harold was equally brief. Describing the occasion as the greatest moment in his life, he said that he was echoing the sentiments of all Falkland Islanders in expressing his pleasure at being able to thank Mrs Thatcher in person for their liberation. He pledged Islanders to build a better future to ensure that the war had been worthwhile and that British lives had not been lost in vain. He read out the formal proclamation, presented the scroll to the Prime Minister and then brought the house down by taking her in his arms and giving her a big kiss. Clearly elated, Margaret Thatcher spoke brilliantly for twenty minutes, without notes, and struck exactly the right chord. Not normally demonstrative, the Islanders gave her the most enthusiastic reception ever witnessed in the Falkland Islands. The biggest cheer came when she said: ‘Today, again the Union Jack flies over Stanley, and may it ever fly there.’ I rather wished that General Garcia had been present. 



















GORDON SMITH


Author





‘Gotcha,’ said The Sun in its usual elegant and loving style. ‘Will we be called up to fight?’ asked some of the middle-aged men in the mental-health centre I was running at the time. Those are my immediate memories of the Falklands War. The only other one was the query, ‘Why hadn’t we fired the torpedoes just to damage the Belgrano?, which seemed a stupid question bearing in mind what submarine warfare is all about, and especially in near-wintry southern seas. Apart from those recollections, little else stuck. I had other things to occupy me. Only a year before, I had walked out of a very secure, overpaid but basically boring management job in a then nationalised industry and, after a few months watching the grass grow, had taken a job with a charity. Then the war came to a successful end – as I believe the British Ambassador said to an Argentine official at the time, ‘Britain doesn’t lose many wars’, and that was it.


Two or so years later, now trying to make the grass grow, I came to the conclusion that it was time to find out why my father was killed in 1943. Not the details, which I knew, but the overall picture that placed him and his ship in the wrong time and place, making them the target of two German torpedoes off the French coast. I therefore decided to explore the whole war-at-sea month-by-month across all theatres and sent the idea to a publisher; they liked it, and I had a book contract. I struggled to meet their deadline, but at last it was finished. A further meeting took place and, much to my surprise, I was commissioned to write a battlefield atlas of the Falklands War. But I’m not interested in the Falklands War, and knew nothing about it. Pride comes before a fall: I was obviously on my way to becoming an established author. I had to say yes.


Going through that modern disease of divorce at the time, this project was even more of a struggle. But eventually, and with a lot of support from family and friends, I collected together each and every (mainly British) published resource I could find and completed the atlas – forty maps, thousands of facts, checked and double-checked. Note that I had never visited the Falklands or Argentina, and had exchanged not one word with a Falklands veteran. But then, you don’t visit the site of the Battle of Jutland or talk to Royal Navy veterans of the time to write about that incredibly complex event!


The book was published in 1989, and received some gratifying reviews – my most low-key but professionally treasured being: ‘may prove to be a most useful source … maps are well presented … [there are no] inconsistencies between text and maps – additional corroboration of the general accuracy and thoroughness of the author’s research and collation… So far as the Official Secrets Act permits, the detail is remarkably accurate’ (Commander James McCoy RN, Naval Review). And a little later: ‘contributed tremendously to my knowledge of the war’ (Francois Heisbourg, Director of the International Institute for Strategic Studies, London).


The book sold fairly well but I discovered I would never make a living out of writing and went back to work in time for our last major economic recession. Redundancy! I started playing around with my personal computer and the new Internet, and eventually decided to upload – as the experts say – my two published books and a lot of unpublished Naval material on to the Internet. The books have been even better received on the web and the compliments even more satisfying – from a British-born journalist/researcher/writer in Argentina: ‘Since 1982, I have visited the Falkland Islands over fifteen times and on every occasion your book has been in my rucksack and has become something of my bible on the war. Over the years of research, I have also had numerous opportunities to cross-check the information there contained against the Argentine versions of the same events and have usually found that it stands up as a fair appraisal of the war even seventeen years later.’ And then, in April 2000, the Argentine Army Journal Soldados listed the book at No. 1 of recommended English-language books on the Falklands War.


If much of this is about me so far, then please forgive me. I come from a Naval family – grandfather sunk twice in the First World War and awarded the DSM for fighting the Bolsheviks; my father survived the Malta convoys and was sunk off the French coast in a mess of an operation (Tunnel); half of my aunts and uncles served in the RN or WRNS. All I wanted to do was join the Navy, didn’t, pursued a successful but totally unfulfilling career apart from learning to be a decent analyst of complex systems, only to end up writing on things Naval and maritime. When I turned 60 I really began enjoying my ‘work’ for the first time. I’m afraid I tend to wallow in any professional Naval or military compliment.


So what’s this all got to do with the Falklands War, the men who fought there, died and were wounded, sometimes horrifically, the ships sunk and aircraft shot down? Especially in an article written by an armchair amateur. Well, I can only give you my reactions and impressions after having to dig deep into the published information on and accounts of what, in terms of British history, will be little more than a footnote in a few hundred years from now.


First, the Argentines – on balance, they have quite a case historically for claiming the Malvinas, but perhaps not much more than Rome’s case for taking back Britannia. Even so, their invasion was immoral and illegal and, on at least two counts, plain stupid – they have set back Argentine/Falkland Islands relations by at least 100 years, and Britain knows how to fight wars, especially when the Prime Minister happens to be a fan of Winston Churchill, and our Navy has 300 years’ experience of carting hastily assembled forces thousands of miles, landing them on hostile shores and beating the hell out of the enemy. Having said that, the Argentine forces appear competently to have carried out a largely unopposed landing, and the country’s air forces fought a brave and potentially war-winning campaign. If all their iron bombs had exploded, we might not have had enough warships left afloat to complete the recapture. But this should not have been a surprise. South America is not all Amazon rivers and undiscovered tribes, but largely southern-European-type societies, quite capable of fighting modern wars. And as one commentator put it, any country that can produce a racing driver like Juan Fangio is going to field some pretty hotshot fighter-bomber pilots. The Argentine Navy wasn’t prepared to lose its few modern and very expensive warships, and the Army seems to have had a Maginot Line complex. Sit in your bunkers and wait for the enemy to come to you. Not that a more offensive approach would have had much effect on the outcome. To pit mainly conscripts against Britain’s Royal Marines, Paras, Guards and Gurkhas is the stuff of nightmares.


As for Britain, most of it has just been said in the context of Argentina. What else can be added? Compared with the two World Wars, in the Falklands we had, on balance, better equipment than the opposition. But in the end, it was the older virtues that prevailed. Centuries of diplomatic and often underhand manoeuvring (we do not always play cricket) meant that Britain was soon able to isolate Argentina in the world, even in South America. Our muddling through, together with the usual happenstance, such as the Royal Navy having warships on exercise near Gibraltar and access to Ascension Island as a base halfway to the Falklands, enabled us to assemble a Task Force in double-quick time. That our men are trained to think and act independently meant the recapture of South Georgia as another base occurred much sooner than one could have expected. The logistics of getting just one obsolescent bomber at a time over Stanley smacks of the same sort of thinking and planning that went into such wartime projects as Enigma. Our Second World War lessons in combined operations remained with us to an admirable degree: one country was fighting, not three or more services individually – at least most of the time, I imagine, although I’m sure there were occasional comments about the Navy, brown jobs, Brylcreem boys, etc., or whatever the modern equivalents are.


When it comes to fighting, the Navy got up to its old hit-and-run tactics, so the Argentines never knew where and when they would turn up. It launched successful carrier strikes against a range of land targets, as it did with the biggest ever British Pacific Fleet off Okinawa and Japan in 1945. The SAS, with their Pebble Island raid, delighted in a rerun of their air-base attacks against Rommel in North Africa. When all but one of the Chinook helicopters were lost, the Marines and Paras did what the ‘Forgotten Army’ had to do in Burma – ‘yomp’ and ‘tab’ across East Falkland with 100lb packs, and fight battles on the way. And when they did fight, it was with rifle and bayonet, machine gun and grenade, with all the blood and pain and death and fear and noise and hellish chaos known by foot soldiers throughout history.


However, we are now told that with the coming of new-fangled asymmetric warfare, with its threefold tasks of diplomacy, humanitarian aid and military intervention (what’s changed for Britain’s services?), and of course with the advent of smart munitions (to misquote The Sun), wars will no longer be the same. Yet the last news I heard before writing this piece was of British SAS troops fighting their way into Afghanistan caves to winkle out Taliban fighters (as they would have done with Argentine, or Korean, or German, or Turkish, or Napoleonic, or…).



















ERIC GOSS


Falkland Islander





From my memory, supported by my diary, on 1 April 1982, I recall an interruption to the evening radio programme as broadcast from Stanley Studio, by a live broadcast from Governor Rex Hunt warning of a possible invasion by Argentine Naval forces.


That evening, at 1830 local time, the population was urged to listen at 1915 to an important message from the Governor. I deduced something serious was going on as we sat down to our evening meal – the Governor Rex Hunt announced that an invasion by the Argentines was imminent and that he had only received this information himself at 3 p.m. that afternoon. Why he kept the population in the dark for four and a half hours remains a mystery. At our table, chewing slowed up and then stopped as the message sank in. This scene of stunned silence was probably repeated in every home and bar throughout the Falklands. As far as I remember, there were very few telephone calls or exchanges on the 2-metre band that evening.


I was awake most of that night listening to radio bulletins that were keeping us up to date with developments in the invasion. A state of emergency was declared at 0325: the invasion fleet was first sighted from Cape Pembroke lighthouse and, one hour later, it could be seen from the high ground in Stanley.


My wife, Shirley, made contact on the landline telephone with her sister Norma in Stanley to discuss the predicament we were in. Brother-in-law Willie Bowles was persuaded to bring out his family and our son Morgan to Goose Green, away from the risk of bullets and shellfire.


They closed up house and departed Stanley in the dark, in Willie’s Series 111 Land Rover, with wife Norma, daughter Hayley and her boyfriend Graham, son Troyd and our son Morgan as passengers. They drove around Sappers Hill heading west on the gravel track. Unbeknownst to them, they had crossed the front line of the Argentine Buzos Tácticos marine unit advancing on Moody Brook barracks and Government House.


Next day (and for many more days), Eileen Vidal, the government radio operator, kept us all informed on the situation in Stanley. Dr Alison Bleaney, the Chief Medical Officer, gave comfort and support to those living in isolated places.


On Saturday 3 April, I dispatched six Land Rovers to the end of the road (at that time, it ended about halfway between Rolon Cove and Bluff Cove, with another stretch coming east from Elephant Canyon). Their purpose was to pick up children evacuated from Stanley, bound for Walker Creek, North Arm and Port Howard.


As anticipated, once the invaders had consolidated their position in Stanley, the next move would be to take control of the two larger settlements in the camp.


On Sunday 4 April, Yona Davis on Lively Island reported two ships passing, one up Choiseul Sound heading for Goose Green and the other to south of Lively Island, no doubt bound for Fox Bay on West Falkland. The first ship was identified as the Argentine transport Isla de los Estados – no stranger to Goose Green, as she had berthed at the jetty on 2 April 1981 to load 1,500 mutton wethers from North Arm bound for Ushuaia.


The ship was sighted nearing the narrows at 1145 hours and anchored in Goose Green basin midway between the narrows and the jetty at 1240 hours. A white Sea King helicopter from Stanley circled overhead, obviously checking for troops or defence systems on the ground. Shortly after, the Isla de los Estados came alongside the jetty and disembarked around seventy Argentine armed infantry.


The soldiers assembled at the jetty head and a small detachment approached the nearest house, which was depicted on the old settlement plan as the manager’s house. The house was now occupied by the storekeeper Keith Baillie, who was driving one of the Land Rovers in the convoy to collect the children coming out of Stanley. Friends of the Baillies, Ray Robson and his wife, had come over from Seal Bay, the lonely shepherd’s house on the north coast, belonging to Port Louis. They had arrived on a white Suzuki TS 250 motorcycle, hoping that here would be a peaceful location in which to sit out the invasion. He was ordered by the Argentine lieutenant to bring Brook Hardcastle, the General Manager of Falkland Islands Company farms, to the jetty head. I can still visualise Brook riding behind Ray along the Darwin track: I bet he had not ridden pillion for many years.


The residents of Goose Green were told to meet up near the Centre Shed at the jetty head and bring along their firearms and any bullets, to hand them over to the troops for safekeeping! Soon after this gathering, more demands were made, this time for accommodation. Thinking quickly, I pointed them in the direction of Darwin Boarding School, a large building used to house camp children and teachers, now used only as a day school for the children of Goose Green and Darwin. My decision isolated the invaders, freeing the people of both Darwin and Goose Green from having armed men living in their midst. The day school was relocated to the Recreation Hall.


On Monday 5 April, the Argentine commando party carried out a house-to-house search, recording the occupants in each dwelling, and taking details of passports held, vehicles owned and transceiver radio equipment. I was obliged to escort the invaders around the settlement by Subteniente (2nd Lieutenant) Juan José Gómez Centurión, who assured us that we would come to no harm and could continue with our normal, routine farm work. The local radio station was taken over by LRA 60 Malvinas Radio Station. The first notice issued was to drive on the right-hand side of the road.


By Tuesday 6 April, the Argentines were short of rations and demanded provisions from the farm store. I accompanied storekeeper Keith Baillie to the farm store, who recorded twelve items issued off the shelves, signed for by Gómez Centurión. Business was conducted in a polite and cordial manner by both sides, but what option has one got when the customer is armed with a sub-machine Colt .45 pistol and has a variety of hand grenades pinned on his tunic? Behind his back, we referred to him as the walking bomb. Were the grenades he wore armed?


More edicts came over the radio imposing restrictions on travel and radio communication, by amateur operators overseas or local calls on the 2-metre band.


Each day brought something new to contend with. Life went on in spite of the restraints imposed. I maintained a close watch on all incoming movement, by ship, helicopter or other aircraft, recording the numbers that landed and deducting those who left. This information was most useful to the British forces when arranging the surrender.


On 22 April, I observed a party land by helicopter near Darwin School. These visitors seemed to create much excited activity, revolving around someone dressed in a white uniform and wearing lots of scrambled egg (gold braid) on his cap, shoulders and chest. After the war, I learnt it was General Leopoldo Galtieri.


Moving my story on to 1 May 1982, at about 0715 local time I was outside emptying the sitting-room ashpan when all hell erupted. Screaming jet aircraft and loud explosions were accompanied by erratic 7.62 FN gunfire, disturbing the peace and tranquillity of a bright, quiet morning.


In the sky above, I saw three Sea Harriers climb steeply over my house and fan out in a formation resembling the Prince of Wales’s feathers. The concussion of exploding ordnance took my breath away; my chest felt squeezed flat. The stench of cordite and jet fumes was heavy on the air. My house is only about 450 yards from the airstrip where the bombs landed, scoring hits on Pucara aircraft and an accommodation tent where fitters and pilots slept. Explosions on the airstrip continued for some time, and thick black smoke billowed up in the clear sky.


When the dust had settled and the noise subsided, soldiers arrived at the office door of my house, ordering everyone out. I refused to move and was taken down the steps with a double-edged blade of six or seven inches under my jaw, by a nasty-natured, oriental-featured individual who piloted a Chinook helicopter, which at night he parked between my house and the blacksmith shed. I was instructed to knock on every door to tell the inhabitants to assemble with haste at the Recreation Hall for a meeting. Residents of Darwin settlement joined us later, not knowing that this was the beginning of the confinement of the entire civilian population of both settlements. We were now incarcerated.


Returning briefly to the Chinook pilot, I believe that he flew his craft from Goose Green at dusk, after landing more troops to reinforce the Argentine defence against the 2 Para Brigade in attack, then west to refuel on Weddell Island and onwards to the nearest mainland base in Argentina. I never did see his face among the prisoners in the woolshed.


Life in the Recreation Hall is a long story. The first night was spent on the bare floor with only a meagre snack that I had managed to get from the farm store by the grace of an elderly FAA senior aircraft fitter, whose attention I attracted when he was passing the Hall at dusk. He said he was at risk by allowing this to happen. Only two people, the storekeeper and I, could go to the store under guard to collect basic essential food and beverages – but strictly no lights were to be shown in the store or warehouse. Fortunately, Baillie knew where his stock was placed. We loaded up what we could carry and much more. The kindly officer shared out the rifles, releasing hands of conscripts to carry our much-needed provisions.


On 4 May, I was out of the hall tending the water supply. As usual, I was returned to the hall by my guards at about 12 noon. Stewart (Tooty) Morrison and I witnessed from the porch window the shooting down of the Sea Harrier flown by Lt Nick Taylor. During the day, Ray Robson and Bob McLeod salvaged an old radio receiver from a waste trap under the bar floor. They assembled a receiver; a test with Dolly Jaffray’s torch battery proved it worked. That night, at 2300, groups of three were detailed to chatter at the windows of the teenagers’ bar to blot out emissions from the BBC World Service. We were depressed by the news; the shooting down of the Sea Harrier was old hat, but we were shocked to hear about the Exocet missile strike on HMS Sheffield.


Skipping the events over many days, I pick up the story on Thursday 27 May. It was a busy day, tending to the wants of our people in the hall, getting stores for those now back in their homes and fuelling and tending the water pump. During the day, sirens warned of air attacks. I was out and about, at times taking cover under banks to evade rifle fire or cluster-bomb drops. At one point, I saw smoke from a Harrier. I saw what I thought to be an ejector seat tumbling to the ground north-west of my house. Loud cheering from the garrison marked this spectacle. I assumed from their joy that they had clobbered a Harrier. I recorded in my diary: ‘I hope the brave lad landed safely and is cared for.’ It was later confirmed that the pilot was Squadron Leader R. D. (Bob) Iveson, who came down near the only camp house I had provisioned for emergency evacuation of Goose Green. He later apologised for eating a can of Heinz baked beans from our cache while he watched the battle from an upstairs window in Paragon House.


On Friday 28 May, I recorded a mild, clear evening, followed by moderate rain at first, becoming heavy, making a cold, wet night for all concerned. Morning brought driving drizzle on a fresh, chilling wind from the north-west. A noisy battle raged all night to the north of Darwin and Goose Green. There was a lot of shelling from ships in Grantham Sound – star shells and parachute flares lit up the sky and camp as bright as day. These illuminations were always followed by heavy gun, mortar and small-arms fire. This pattern of action continued all night.


I had a ringside seat as I watched the battle progress from the upstairs window above the sitting room. My wife and sons moved downstairs at 0400 hours. I moved down to the sitting room at 0430, then into the passage, before eventually taking shelter under the medical-room floor, through traps previously cut so we could lie at ground level, hopefully protected from incoming rubbish by the cement foundation wall.


Observing the progress of the battle from both sides, I saw the retreat of Argentine troops and some forward sorties along the beach towards the school. These were led by Gómez Centurión, and I saw the last one as darkness fell.


I had had traps cut in the floors of houses occupied by civilians and for those still incarcerated in the Recreation Hall, allowing them to get below ground level should the going get tough.


In my house, all except Nanny McCullum (82 years of age) took refuge under the floor. At 0730, we had to strengthen the inside barricade, covering the hole in the cement foundation wall which had been made some days before to serve as an escape route should the house catch fire. The frightened and desperate conscripts sheltering around the house had tried to gain entry.


During the noise of the battle, a hungry Argentine soldier broke the scullery window and got in. Graham Morrison went above floor to check on Nan McCullum and fetch a jug of fresh water. He quickly returned to tell me that someone was in the pantry. I went up to investigate and found a dirty, dishevelled conscript spooning Fil-mil powdered milk into his mouth like there was no tomorrow. By sign language, he indicated his hunger, mollifying me by pointing to his FN rifle outside the back door by the broken window. I took him to the garage behind the house: a scraggy sheep carcass to feed my dog hung there. The starving lad cut off some chunks to eat, braising them over a field cooker. I found a piece of plywood and some nails to cover the broken window pane and left this scared young man in the shelter of his new-found kitchen.


With the patch nailed in place over the broken window, I checked on Nan McCullum, under her covering of blankets and mattress to protect her from flying splinters. Then I joined the other nine below the floor.


At about 2200 hours, there was knocking on my office door. Turning out the lights, I opened the door and three Argentine soldiers bustled in. Once the door was shut, the lights were put on to reveal three dirty, worn men, who announced that the purpose of their call was to take me to the headquarters for a meeting. Willie Bowles recognised the Captain, who explained that his clay-dusty uniform was a result of crawling along the track from Darwin Hill back to Goose Green. With his command of Spanish, Willie insisted that the Captain stay to keep out others in my absence. This agreed, I left with my escorts. The Captain accepted a chair and a cup of coffee, and shortly fell into a deep sleep.


At Baillie’s house, I was escorted into the dining room and seated at the large table. I was soon joined by Vice-Commodore Wilson Dosio Pedroza, his subordinate Vice-Commodore Oscar Varra, Lieutenant-Colonel Italo Angelo (Kojak) Piaggi, the Argentine Naval Lieutenant (call me George) Canevari Copevich and other senior ranks, making a total of eleven in all. Pedroza opened the meeting by asking how we could evacuate the civilian population out of the area of conflict. He then requested my help in making contact with the British troops nearby. I enquired: ‘How close?’


‘Very close,’ he replied.


I suggested Darwin Boarding School. He said: ‘Yes, but the school is no more, it has burnt down.’


I thought to myself: ‘In that case, the front line must be only 400 metres away.’


After suggesting that they break into the field radio frequency, or go out and shout across the void ground, I directed my next idea to the Naval guy. I said that they should call on the international distress frequency from Monsunen. He responded quickly by saying that the bad British Harriers had shot up the radio system. (After the surrender, we found this not to be so. The radio was still operational.)


I then suggested that they return my 2-metre transceiver, although it would take some time to rig up an antenna. But because of earlier edicts on the dismantling of all antennas, it was unlikely that anyone would be on the air. Pedroza said they had a 2-metre on line upstairs. We all went up and there was Baillie’s Yeasua on 147.000. I told them I would have to shift channel to the local call band 145.000. It was agreed that I do so. I opened by saying: ‘This is Eric Goss calling from Goose Green – is there anyone listening out there?’ To my surprise, Allan Miller, at Port San Carlos, came on enquiring how I was. I told him I was in the presence of all the foreign top brass who wished to make contact with the British forces nearby. To my question ‘Is there any British officer there?’, Alan asked: ‘Do you have many little men in green jackets there?’ I replied: ‘By the present company I am in, it would be a military indiscretion to tell you.’ Taking advantage of the circumstances, surrounded by very tired combatants, I speeded up my reply by saying: ‘In excess of a grand.’ This went unchallenged. Alan came back to say: ‘Thanks. We got that in one, I now hand you over to the senior officer.’ I never did find out to whom I spoke that night.


I stated that the Argentine officers in Goose Green wished to arrange a meeting with the British forces the next morning. Then came long periods of silence while a communication link was set up between Port San Carlos, British headquarters in San Carlos (probably a ship) and into Darwin Hill. The triangular link was slow. I was escorted back home but, every hour or two throughout the night, I was taken back to the radio room to confirm that the meeting in the morning was still on. It was a long night, with plenty coffee and little sleep.


At 0700 hours, I was once again escorted back from my home to the radio room to make sure that the meeting was still on. It was agreed that the officers of the two opposing units would meet at the airstrip flagpole at 0900 local time. I accompanied the three senior officers on a route south of the houses to a point past my house, where I paused to hand Pedroza a note I had written during a lull in communications, while my armed guard, Teniente Primero Kishomotto, a swarthy Japanese-looking character who was built like a sumo wrestler, was asleep in his chair. I guess the battle wore heavy on him.


My note was addressed to Vice-Commodore Wilson Pedroza and Lieutenant-Colonel Piaggi. It was dated 29 May 1982.


‘With the concern you show over the safety of civilians, can I now ask you to take this a step further and in view of the brave and courageous way your soldiers fought; in the interest of saving the lives of such valiant soldiers on both sides – will you consider an honourable surrender? Britain and Argentina need these young men.’


This note was written on a page of Amateur Radio logbook paper at 0710 local time in indelible pencil, while I waited for brigade headquarters to confirm that the meeting was still on schedule.


Halfway between my house and the iron gate off the green into the paddock known as the Near Race, I handed my note to Vice-Commodore Pedroza. He read it, then passed it to Lieutenant-Colonel Italo Piaggi, who, after reading it, passed it to Lieutenant Copevich, who took it upon himself to interpret it to the other officers. (Both of them had equal or as good a command of English as he did.) Copevich said it was none of my business and ordered me to go no further. They proceeded towards the airstrip hut to meet the two Argentine NCOs who had been sent forward from the British front line on Darwin Hill carrying a message in Spanish for them to agree a face-to-face meeting with the British officers.


The two POWs returned to Darwin gorse wall. At this time, I spotted two ‘sneaky beakies’ peering over the hedge at the three Argentine officers waiting by the flagpole.


Time passed, and then a group made their way down from the Darwin sod wall to the flagpole. Surrender was agreed. The opposing sides returned to their lines. Some hours passed while the various units assembled for the formal surrender, laying down their arms in the Near Race paddock, north-west of the farm garage.


I photographed the surrendering troops as they assembled and marched past. Piaggi had drunk too much gin and threw up as he passed me. Seeing my camera, he shouted: ‘No photographs!’ My retort was: ‘You are not in charge now.’ Another of his group shook his fist at me, shouting: ‘We will be back!’


The first two in British camouflage who I met and welcomed were the BBC reporter Robert Fox and David Norris from the Daily Mail.


The pace of life went into high gear. I was busy getting all Paras and 105 Gunners under cover. Major Neame and his group of seven set up HQ in my office. I came across Sergeant Alan Bullock throwing the contents out of the head shepherd’s motorcycle garage. I asked him what he was up to. Making space to sleep under cover was his reply. With that, I showed him my conservatory, to provide shelter and warmth from the Rayburn that was plumbed in to heat the seedbeds. He soon had other Gunners sharing the floor space.


Major Chris Keeble, Major Roger Miller and the radio operator with all his field-communication kit were accommodated in the house where Dave Smith, Nora and children had lived until being evicted on 1 May. That evening, Dave came to request permission to take some vegetables from his garden. Keeble told him to go ahead. Dave, ashen-faced, rushed back in saving that there were three bodies under the tree in his garden. Keeble, irritated by the interruption, retorted: ‘I know, I had them put there – they are dead and won’t hurt you. Go and get your swedes.’


Over the next few days, I checked out foxholes and trenches for dead bodies in the company of Reverend Peter Hudson, who flew in daily from HMS Fearless in bomb alley. My 13-year-old son Morgan came with us in the farm Land Rover. The only Para we saw was on his back at the head of Fish Creek, near the milking shed. Morgan was shocked, and shouted: ‘Look, Dad, there’s one of ours.’ Two Argentine dead lay close by, but he made no comment about them.


Meanwhile, Michael Minnell drove the tractor and trailer (known as the death cart), with Kevin Browning riding in support. A party of conscripts, escorted by Paratroopers, lifted the bodies on to the trailer and they were taken behind the gorse hedge near my house. Dave Smith and the mechanic Albert McLeod corrected the knobbling that had been done to our best tractor to put it out of order for use by the invading forces. When it was up and running, Dave drove the machine to Darwin Horse Park valley, where he excavated a trench in which to bury the thirty-nine Argentine bodies collected from the battlefields. He also dug trenches for defence positions for the Parachute Regiment and the 1/7th Gurkha Rifles.


The involvement of MV Monsunen (the Falkland Islands Company coastal supply ship) began late afternoon on Sunday 23 May when, under Argentine command, she tied up at Goose Green jetty, where she remained until the push forward to take Stanley had begun. Lt-Col. David de P Morgan, in command of 1/7th Duke of Edinburgh’s Own Gurkha Rifle Company, approached me about the means of transport that were available. This drew my attention to the vessel at the jetty. Knowing that I had capable seamen on hand and an ex-engineer of the little ship (Mike Robson), I ran the idea first past Finlay Ferguson, our local skipper, and then past Mike Robson, who said that he could easily fire her up but that, before he went below deck, we should have the Explosive Ordnance Party check her out for booby traps.


Safety checks done, Bob and Janet McLeod in the sub-aqua kit cleared the rope fouling the propeller. Taking a full load of Gurkhas, they left at nightfall, bound for Fitzroy. Other members of the crew were Martin Ridge, Steve Ball, Gavin Browning and the engineroom assistant Brian Jaffray. At Fitzroy, Lt Ian McClaren RN and three ratings joined the ship. The voyages to Fitzroy carried JP1 fuel decanted from Argentine pillow tanks into 45-gallon steel drums, which were shipped to fuel British helicopters operating behind the forward lines, corralling the Argentine forces into Stanley.


On request from Brigadier Tony Wilson, an LCU, Foxtrot 4, came from HMS Fearless to pick up some Land Rovers that were arriving in Goose Green on 8 June. When the vehicles were loaded, the coxswain ordered cast-off. Finlay suggested that he wait till dark, making passage in the company of the Monsunen to Fitzroy, but his orders did not permit delay. At midnight, the Monsunen came upon the drifting hulk of LCU Foxtrot 4 with one dead body aboard. After this incident, the Royal Navy commanders decided to put the ‘kelper’ crew ashore, sparing them from enemy attack.


I never once doubted that Prime Minister Margaret Thatcher would decide to send a Task Force to repulse an invasion of British territory. My affectionate name for the Right Honourable Lady is ‘Mother Falklands’. Not since Boudicca has Britain had such a fighting lady. My most humble and grateful thanks to her, all who supported the cause and those who sailed, fought and died for our freedom.
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